IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0154

AGNES ADVENTURES, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JORDI ANZIK,

Defendant and Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT JORDI ANZIK

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court,
Lewis & Clark County, the Hon. Mike Menahan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Daniel Webster
Montana Legal Services Association
616 Helena Avenue, Ste. 100
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 442-9830 x 113
(406) 442-9817 (Fax)
dwebster@mtlsa.org
Counsel for Defendant/Appellant

David B. Gallik
Gallik Law Offices
1124 Billings Ave.
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 442-0609
dave@galliklaw.com
Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellee

Amy Hall
Montana Legal Services Association

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the Montana Residential Mobile Home Lot Rental Act allows a lot-owner/landlord to terminate without cause a homeowner/lot-renter's unwritten month-to-month rental agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case stems from the right of possession of a mobile home lot rental in Helena. Agnes Adventures, LLC ("Agnes"), the lot-owner/landlord, seeks to evict without cause Jordi Anzik ("Anzik"), the homeowner/lot-renter, from the mobile home lot that her home occupies under an unwritten month-to-month rental agreement.

Anzik owns the mobile home, which is located at 5427 McHugh Lane, Lot 3, Helena, Montana in the Western Skies Mobile Home Park. App. C, Jordi Anzik's District Court Answer Brief (hereafter "Anzik Brief"), p. 4, ¶ 4. Agnes owns Western Skies Mobile Home Park and the lot occupied by Anzik's mobile home. App. B, Agnes Adventures' District Court Brief of Appellant (hereafter "Agnes Brief"), p. 2.

There is no written rental agreement between Anzik and Agnes. App. B, Agnes Brief at 2. Anzik pays rent on a monthly basis, and the parties agree that they have a month-to-month rental agreement for the lot, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-201(2)(e). App. E, Complaint, ¶ 3.

On September 2, 2022, Agnes mailed to Anzik a “30 DAY NOTICE TO QUIT AND TERMINATE THE RENTAL AGREEMENT” that did not allege any grounds for termination. App. B, Agnes Brief, pp. 2-4; App. J, Agnes Notice of Termination. The notice provided that Anzik’s month-to-month tenancy would terminate on October 10, 2022. App. J, Agnes Notice of Termination.

Anzik received the 30-day notice. App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 3.

Anzik did not vacate the rented lot by October 10, 2022, and continues to reside in her mobile home on the rented lot. App. B, Agnes Brief, p.3.

Agnes filed its court complaint in the Lewis and Clark County Justice Court, a court of record, on October 11, 2022, which was more than thirty-three days after Anzik received the 30-day notice. App. E, Complaint, ¶ 5.

On October 27, 2022, Anzik filed a *pro se* answer arguing that she is entitled to possession because she has paid all her rent and Agnes Adventures did not have any cause for termination. Answer, pp. 1-4, Justice Court record (hereafter “J. Ct. R.”). Attorney Mimi Wolok on November 4, 2022, entered a notice of appearance to represent Anzik. Def.’s Notice of Appearance, p. 1, J. Ct. R.

The Justice Court held a judge trial on November 9, 2022, at which both parties appeared. App. G, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order for Judgment (hereafter “J. Ct. Judgment”), p. 1. Agnes argued that it could lawfully terminate Anzik’s month-to-month lot rental agreement with a 30-day no-cause

notice because the rental agreement was month-to-month and had expired at the end of the 30-day notice, and Agnes was not required to allege one of the grounds for termination provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433. J. Ct. Trial Recording at 8:01-9:00; App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 5.

Anzik argued that the Montana Residential Mobile Home Lot Rental Act, Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-101, *et seq.* (hereafter “Lot Rental Act”), does not allow a termination without cause, even if the rental agreement is month-to-month, and that the landlord was required to assert one of the grounds for termination provided at Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433. App. G, J. Ct. Judgment, p. 1.

On November 15, 2022, the Justice Court ruled in favor of Anzik and dismissed Agnes’ complaint for possession. App. G, J. Ct. Judgment, pp. 1-2. The Justice Court concluded as a matter of law that Agnes “made no qualifying claim under MCA § 70-33-433, Grounds for Termination of a Rental Agreement.” *Id.* at 2.

Agnes filed a motion for relief from judgment, which Anzik opposed. Pl.’s Mot. for Relief from Judgment (Nov. 14, 2022), J. Ct. R.; Def.’s Resp. to Pl.’s Mot. for Relief from Judgment (Nov. 18, 2022), J. Ct. R. On November 21, 2022, the Justice Court denied Agnes’ motion for relief from judgment. App. F, J. Ct. Ord. Den. Pl.’s Mot. Relief. The Justice Court noted that because the rental property at issue was a mobile home lot, the case was governed by the Lot Rental Act and not

the Montana Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, Mont. Code Ann. § 70-24-101

et seq. (hereafter “MRLTA”). *Id.* The Justice Court also noted:

It appears clear to the Court the Montana Legislature recognized the differences inherent in directing someone to vacate an apartment, or, for that matter, mobile home, and directing someone to move an entire mobile home off a lot. The latter, as argued by the Respondent [homeowner/lot-renter Anzik], requires great effort and expense and, apparently for those reasons, an entirely separate section of law under which to seek guidance.”

Id. at p.1.

The Justice Court rejected Agnes’ argument that requiring grounds for termination of a month-to-month mobile home lot rental agreement under Mont. Code. Ann. § 70-33-433 created a “life estate” for Anzik. *Id.* at 2.

On December 7, 2022, Agnes Adventures appealed the Justice Court decision to the First Judicial District Court. Agnes Notice of Appeal to Dist. Ct., J. Ct. R. Agnes filed its District Court appeal brief on December 14, 2022. App. B, Agnes Brief. Anzik filed her District Court answer brief on December 28, 2022. App. C, Anzik Brief. Agnes argued that it was not required to provide grounds for termination under Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 because the parties’ unwritten month-to-month lot rental agreement had expired at the end of the notice period as a result of Agnes’ 30-day no-cause notice of termination to Anzik. App. B, Agnes Brief, pp. 3-5. Anzik argued that statutory construction and legislative intent of the Lot Rental Act supported the Justice Court’s ruling that the Lot Rental Act does

not allow for termination of a lot rental agreement without cause, and that Agnes must allege one of the grounds for termination provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433. App. C, Anzik Brief, pp. 9-15.

On February 9, 2023, based on the parties' briefing, the District Court entered its "Order on Appeal From Justice Court" reversing and remanding the Justice Court's decision. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order. The District Court dispensed with Anzik's argument that a lot-owner/landlord must comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 concerning the grounds for termination. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order, pp. 4:22-25, 5:1-11. The District Court agreed with Agnes that the Justice Court decision had created a life estate for Anzik in the mobile home park because, as long as Anzik continued to pay rent and did not do anything to provide the landlord with one of the grounds for termination under Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433, "the Justice Court holding would allow her [Anzik] to remain on the lot indefinitely." *Id.* at p. 3-11.

The District Court Order's "Discussion" section includes only two paragraphs that summarily mention Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433. *Id.* at pp. 4:22-25, 5:1-11. The Order does not include any discussion of how a life estate could be created given that the Lot Rental Act includes two grounds for termination in § 70-33-433 which do not require any tenant noncompliance -- § 70-33-433(1)(l) for a landlord's change in the use of land, which requires a 180-day notice to the tenant,

and -433(1)(m) for a landlord's legitimate business reason, which requires a 90-day notice. *Id.*

The District Court's order addresses one issue which Anzik is no longer contesting: Anzik is not claiming that Agnes' notice is invalid because it cites the wrong statute. *Id.* at pp. 4:1-4, 5:2-21. Instead, Anzik claims that Agnes' notice is invalid because Montana law does not allow a no-cause termination of a mobile home lot rental agreement.

On February 14, 2023, Montana Legal Services Association filed a notice of substitution of counsel for Anzik in District Court. Notice of Substitution of Counsel for Appellee. Attorney Mimi Wolok no longer represents Anzik.

On February 15, 2023, Anzik filed a motion to certify the "Order on Appeal from Justice Court" as a final judgment for purpose of this appeal. Mot. to Cert. Order as Final for Appeal, pp. 1-8. On February 15, 2023, the District Court granted Anzik's motion. Order Certifying as Final "Order on Appeal from Justice Court," pp.1-6 (hereafter "Dist. Ct. Certifying Order"). In the certifying order, the District Court finds that "there is no just reason for delaying the Supreme Court's determination of this important legal issue [whether a no-cause notice is lawful under the Lot Rental Act], which is an issue of first impression and which will have impacts statewide." *Id.* at p. 4.

Anzik filed notice of appeal to this Court on March 7, 2023. Anzik Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court.

On March 14, 2022, this Court approved the District Court's certification order and allowed Anzik's appeal to proceed.¹

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts are largely undisputed. Anzik owns and resides in her 1970s mobile home located at 5427 McHugh Lane, Lot 3, Helena, Montana. App. D, Anzik Declaration, ¶¶ 1, 4. Agnes owns the rented lot. App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 2.

Anzik bought the home in November 2020, already located on Lot 3. App. D, Anzik Declaration, ¶ 2. Anzik invested thousands of dollars, adding insulation and sheetrock to the home, remodeling the kitchen, bedrooms and bathroom, and redoing the electrical wiring. App. D, Anzik Declaration, ¶ 3.

There is no written rental agreement between Anzik and Agnes Adventures. App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 2. Anzik pays rent on a monthly basis, and the parties agree they have a month-to-month rental agreement for the lot, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-201(2)(e). App. E, Complaint, ¶ 3.

On September 2, 2022, Agnes Adventures mailed to Anzik a "30 DAY NOTICE TO QUIT AND TERMINATE THE RENTAL AGREEMENT" that did

¹ There are two other appeals currently pending that involve no-cause terminations of mobile home lot rentals: *Westview Mobile Home Park v. Lockhart*, No. DA 22-0358, and *Greener Montana Prop. Mgt v. Cunningham*, No. DA 22-0498.

not allege any grounds for termination. App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 4. The notice provided that Anzik's month-to-month tenancy would terminate on October 10, 2022. App. J, Agnes Notice of Termination.

Anzik received the 30-day notice. App. B, Agnes Brief, p. 3. Anzik did not vacate the rented lot by October 10, 2022, and continues to reside in her mobile home on the rented lot. App. E, Complaint, p. 2.

Anzik estimates that she would have to spend at least \$5,000 to move the mobile home off the lot, and fears that the home is not structurally sound enough to survive a move. App. D, Anzik Declaration, ¶ 7; J. Ct. Trial Recording at 6:33-6:53. Anzik knows that it is hard to find a mobile home park that would accept an old 1970s home like hers. App. D, Anzik Declaration, ¶¶ 4, 7.

After Agnes filed a Justice Court complaint for possession of the lot, the Justice Court entered judgment for Anzik, finding Agnes was required to assert one of the grounds for termination provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 and could not terminate Anzik's month-to-month lot rental agreement for no reason. App. G, J. Ct. Judgment, p. 2.

Agnes appealed to District Court. The District Court entered judgment for Agnes, without extensive analysis of the Lot Rental Act. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order.

Anzik appealed to this Court. While this appeal is pending, Anzik has continued to pay rent and reside in her mobile home on the rented lot.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves the interpretation and construction of a statute. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews for correctness. *Clark Fork Coalition v. Tubbs*, 2016 MT 229, ¶ 18, 384 Mont. 503, 380 P.3d 771 (citations omitted). This Court reviews de novo whether the district court correctly interpreted and applied a statute. *Hines v. Topher Realty, LLC*, 2018 MT 44, ¶ 12, 390 Mont. 352, 413 P.3d 813 (citing *State v. Triplett*, 2008 MT 360, ¶ 13, 346 Mont. 383, 195 P.3d 819).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Lot Rental Act does not authorize a lot-owner/landlord to terminate without cause the month-to-month rental agreement of a mobile homeowner/lot-renter. The Lot Rental Act comprehensively regulates mobile home lot rentals in Montana and provides grounds for termination of all rental agreements, including month-to-month rental agreements, in one statute—Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433.

A lot-owner/landlord may only terminate a month-to-month lot rental agreement for one of the thirteen grounds provided in the Lot Rental Act and must provide proper notice of the termination to the homeowner/lot-renter in accordance with the notice requirements of § 70-33-433. The thirteen grounds include two grounds within the landlord's control that do not require any tenant noncompliance: 1) termination based on the change in the use of land, and 2)

termination for any legitimate business reason. § 70-33-433(1)(l), (m). Because Agnes's notice of termination did not allege one of the thirteen grounds for termination specified by the Lot Rental Act, the parties' rental agreement was not terminated, and Anzik may maintain possession of the lot.

The month-to-month nature of the parties' unwritten rental agreement does not allow Agnes to circumvent the termination requirements of the Lot Rental Act and terminate Anzik's tenancy for a reason not provided in § 70-33-433. The parties' lot rental agreement creates a periodic tenancy comprised of a continuous succession of one-month periods that can only be terminated by proper, lawful notice. Agnes' no-cause termination notice was not lawful under the Lot Rental Act.

The Lot Rental Act does not contain any provision authorizing the no-cause termination of a month-to-month rental agreement upon thirty days' notice. The well-established canons of statutory construction show that the Lot Rental Act prohibits a lot-owner/landlord from terminating a rental agreement for a reason not expressed in the Lot Rental Act's plain language. Because the Lot Rental Act in § 70-33-433 specifically provides various grounds of termination, the doctrine of *expressio inius est exclusio alterius* -- the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another -- prohibits the landlord from terminating a rental agreement for reasons not provided in § 70-33-433.

The District Court's decision allowing Agnes' no-cause termination of Anzik's rental agreement leads to the absurd result of allowing a lot-owner/landlord to terminate a lot rental agreement for grounds not contemplated in statute. Under the District Court's interpretation, a lot-owner/landlord could terminate a month-to-month rental agreement for any reason, no matter how arbitrary or absurd, and could arbitrarily decide the number of days' notice to give the homeowner/lot-renter. This is not reasonable. A reasonable interpretation of the Lot Rental Act, after applying the fundamental canons of statutory construction, leads to the conclusion that the Lot Rental Act prohibits a landlord from terminating a month-to-month rental agreement without cause, and must terminate for one of the grounds and with the number of days' notice provided in § 70-33-433.

Requiring Agnes to terminate the rental agreement as provided in § 70-33-433 does not give Anzik a life estate in the rented lot. Agnes may terminate Anzik's tenancy at any time with lawful notice for one of the grounds provided in the Lot Rental Act, including for any legitimate business reason. Agnes may not terminate Anik's tenancy without cause because a no-cause termination is not authorized by the Lot Rental Act.

ARGUMENT

I. The parties' month-to-month lot rental agreement does not expire every thirty days and must be terminated in accordance with the Lot Rental Act.

It is undisputed that Agnes, a Montana lot-owner/landlord, must comply with Montana law concerning its rental property. The District Court ruled that Montana law allows terminations without cause of lot rentals. *See* App. A, Dist. Ct. Order. Anzik disagrees. Montana law does not allow a landlord to terminate a lot rental agreement without cause, whether that rental agreement is month-to-month or a term for years. The grounds for termination of a mobile home lot rental agreement are set out in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 and do not include a no-cause termination. Further, no other section within the Lot Rental Act authorizes a no-cause termination. Because no-cause terminations are not authorized by Montana law, Agnes' no-cause notice of termination to Anzik did not result in termination of her lot rental agreement.

The District Court erred when it ruled that Agnes did not have to comply with § 70-33-433 to terminate Anzik's month-to-month lot rental tenancy. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order, p. 5. The District Court's conclusion that Agnes lawfully terminated Anzik's tenancy with its thirty-day no-cause notice contradicts the Lot Rental Act and black letter law from the Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord and Tenant (Am. L. In. 1977) and other sources. This Court has

recognized the Restatements as persuasive authority. *See, e.g., Progressive Direct Ins. Co. v. Stuvenga*, 2012 MT 75, ¶ 21, note 1, 364 Mont. 390, 276 P.3d 867 (internal citations omitted).

There are two common types of leases in U.S. property law: a periodic tenancy and a tenancy for years. Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord and Tenant §§1.4, 1.5. A tenancy for years lasts for a “fixed or computable” period of time and has traditionally been referred to as a tenancy for years, regardless of the length of the fixed period. *Id.* at §1.4. A tenancy for years terminates at the end of the term specified in the lease. *Id.* A periodic tenancy, such as a week-to-week or a month-to-month tenancy, continues successively from one period to the next. Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord and Tenant § 1.5. The Restatement states that a periodic, month-to-month tenancy creates a continuing relationship of successive periods of one month which can only be terminated by proper notice. *Id.* Illustration 1 at cmt. d provides: “L leases a residence to T on July 1 ‘to continue from month to month.’ The lease creates a tenancy continuing for successive periods of one month until proper notice is given.” *Id.* Proper notice of mobile home lot rental terminations in Montana is governed by the Lot Rental Act, which does not authorize a termination without cause.

Anzik’s lease is a periodic tenancy, as opposed to a term for years. The lease is not for a fixed period of time, such as one year. It is a month-to-month

rental agreement, which reflects “a continuing relationship” and does not have a lease term that expires. Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord and Tenant §1.5 at comment c. This Court has cited favorably to § 1.5 of the Restatement, and in dicta noted that a periodic tenancy has no fixed ending term. *Grenfell v. Anderson*, 1999 MT 272, ¶ 30, 296 Mont. 474, 989 P.2d 818.

This Court has not yet determined the issue of whether the Lot Rental Act allows a no-cause termination. Courts in other states have examined whether month-to-month lot rental agreements expire every thirty days and whether such tenancies can be terminated without grounds authorized by statute.

In *Green Valley Mobile Home Park v. Mulvaney*, 121 N.M. 187, 918 P.2d 1317 (1996) the New Mexico Supreme Court refused to enforce a thirty-day no-cause notice to terminate a lot-renter’s month-to-month lease. Because the lot-owner/landlord had not stated any reason for termination in its notice, the Court held the lot-owner/landlord had not complied with the statute and remanded the case for judgment in the homeowner/lot-renter’s favor. *Id.* at ¶¶ 7, 14.

In a case precisely on point, the Utah Supreme Court applied three sources of black letter law – the Restatement (Second) Property: Landlord and Tenant, 2 Richard R. Powell, *Powell on Real Property*, § 16 (1994), and

4 Thompson on Real Property, § 39 (David. A. Thomas ed., 1994) – to reverse a trial court decision in favor of the landlord and rule that a periodic, month-to-month mobile home lot tenancy does not expire every thirty days, and could not be terminated for no reason:

A periodic tenancy, in contrast [to a term for years], involves a continuous succession of “periods” — one-month periods in the case of a month-to-month lease — and lasts for an indefinite time. See Restatement (Second) of Property, *supra* ¶ 12, § 1.5 cmt. c. Periodic tenancy does not terminate and renew itself at the beginning of each period; rather, each new period is simply an extension of the original period. See *Id.*; *2 Powell on Real Property*, *supra* ¶ 12, § 16.04[1]. Moreover, “periodic tenancies never expire automatically because they are continuous by definition.” *4 Thompson on Real Property*, *supra* ¶ 11, § 39.06(b)(1), at 526. A periodic tenancy may be terminated only when one party gives proper notice to terminate it. See Restatement (Second) of Property, *supra* ¶ 12, § 1.5 cmt. f. The foregoing discussion exposes the fundamental flaw in the trial court's reasoning. The court reasoned that the month-to-month lease "naturally expired at the end of each month," taking Coleman's action outside the scope of the MHPRA [Utah's lot rental act], which deals with "terminating" a lease. This is not the case. A month-to-month lease, or any other periodic tenancy, does not simply "expire," as the court concluded. As discussed above, it must be "terminated," and it is the act of giving notice that triggers the termination of the lease.

Coleman v. Thomas, 2000 UT 53, ¶¶ 13-14, 4 P.3d 783, 785-86 (Utah 2000) (emphasis added).

Like the trial court in *Coleman*, the District Court here agreed with Agnes that there was nothing unlawful about Agnes' termination of Anzik's tenancy with a 30-day no-cause notice, because Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 does not apply to a no-cause month-to-month termination. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order, p. 5. The

District Court’s order does not explicitly state that a month-to-month termination falls outside the Lot Rental Act, but that conclusion is implicit in its holding that Anzik became “a holdover tenant who remained on the lot without Agnes’ consent after the lease expired” as a result of Agnes’ termination notice, and that compliance with § 70-33-433, the Grounds for Termination statute, was not required. *Id.*

In *Coleman*, the Utah Supreme Court overturned the trial court’s conclusion that the parties’ month-to-month mobile home lot rental agreement naturally expired at the end of each month. *Coleman*, ¶¶ 13-14. In the instant case, the District Court made a similar finding, that Anzik’s lease expired thirty days after receiving Agnes’ 30-day no-cause notice. App. A, Dist. Ct. Order, p. 5. The Utah Supreme Court held that the parties’ month-to-month lease, as with any periodic tenancy, did not simply expire, but must be terminated by proper, lawful notice. *Coleman*, ¶¶ 13-14.

The *Coleman* Court reasoned that its decision to prohibit no-cause terminations was “in harmony with the overall purpose” of Utah’s Mobile Home Park Residency Act (“MHPRA”):

...protecting against termination without cause serves the twofold purpose of protecting both park residents and park owners. The cause requirement prevents a park owner from terminating residents' leases at whim and forcing them to undergo great expense uprooting their homes, along with their footings, skirting, decks, and landscaping, and attempting to secure another lease elsewhere. The protection that the

MHPRA provides to a park owner is the power to "promulgate rules related to the health, safety, and appropriate conduct of residents and to the maintenance and upkeep of such park," *id.* § 57-16-7(1)(a) (Supp. 1999), and to terminate a resident's lease if the resident fails to abide by any of the park rules, see *id.* § 57-16-5(1). Thus, while the MHPRA protects a park resident from sudden, unjustifiable eviction, it provides a park owner speedy remedies against a tenant who violates reasonable rules.

Coleman, ¶ 19.

Similarly, the Montana Legislature has stated its public purpose for prohibiting no-cause terminations. Its Preamble to the 1993 bill which enacted the Grounds for Termination statute states that its purpose is to address the affordable housing crisis and to protect homeowner/lot-renters from having to sell their homes at a fraction of their costs if forced to move for no reason in 30 days. App. H, Preamble, 1993 Mont. Session Laws 1665, Ch. 470.

The Utah statute at issue in *Coleman*, Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-5(1) (Supp. 1999) is similar to Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433, and authorized termination for various grounds of noncompliance by the homeowner/lot-renter, as well as for the lot-owner/landlord's change in use of the land. *Coleman*, ¶ 17. The *Coleman* court found that the lot-owner/landlord did not terminate the lease for any of the grounds listed in Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-5. *Id.* at ¶ 21. The court held that the lot-owner/landlord could not terminate the lease without cause, notwithstanding the parties' month-to-month lease that allowed such termination. *Id.* The parties' written lease provision that allowed for termination without cause was

unenforceable because the tenant could not be forced to waive their protections under Utah's MHPRA, which required that termination be based on statutory grounds. *Id.* at ¶ 21.

Applying *Coleman's* reasoning to the instant case, the parties' month-to-month rental agreement is subject to the Lot Rental Act, just as a term lease would be. The Lot Rental Agreement sets forth thirteen grounds for termination in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433 and does not authorize termination for no reason. Pursuant to the Restatement (Second) of Property: Landlord and Tenant and the Lot Rental, Anzik has a periodic tenancy which does not expire every thirty days; the rental agreement continues from month-to-month unless lawfully terminated, and Agnes did not lawfully terminate Anzik's rental agreement.

The District Court's holding effectively requires Anzik to waive or forgo her right to have her tenancy lawfully terminated according to the provisions of the Lot Rental Act, simply because the rental agreement is month-to-month. However, as in Utah, Montana law provides that the rental agreement cannot require the tenant to waive or forego rights or remedies under the Lot Rental Act. Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-202(1)(a). Thus, the month-to-month agreement cannot require Anzik to waive her right to be terminated only for one of the grounds provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433.

The District Court's order seems premised on the faulty notion that a month-to-month rental agreement, just by its nature of being month-to-month, naturally or

automatically grants the landlord the authority to terminate the tenancy without any grounds. This is incorrect. Notably, neither the District Court nor Agnes have cited to any Montana statute which would allow a mobile home lot rental agreement to be lawfully terminated by the landlord on a 30-day no-cause notice. While the MRLTA in Mont. Code Ann. § 70-24-441 allows such terminations of non-mobile rentals, the Lot Rental Act does not. To lawfully terminate Anzik's rental agreement, Agnes must give Anzik a notice alleging grounds for termination that are authorized in the Lot Rental Act, and the Act does not authorize a termination for no cause.

Because Agnes did not provide proper notice to terminate Anzik's month-to-month rental agreement under Montana law, Anzik's rental agreement was not lawfully terminated, and she was not a holdover tenant when she stayed past the termination date given in Agnes' notice.

II. Statutory construction of the Lot Rental Act supports the conclusion that no-cause terminations of mobile home lot rental agreements are not allowed.

Resolution of this appeal requires this Court to engage in statutory construction of the Lot Rental Act. This court's canons of statutory construction support the conclusion that the Lot Rental Act prohibits no-cause terminations of lot rental agreements.

In interpreting a statute, a court must construe the statute as written by the legislature and may not “insert what has been omitted or omit what has been inserted.” Mont. Code Ann. § 1-2-101; *Infinity Ins. Co. v. Dodson*, 2000 MT 287, ¶ 46, 302 Mont. 209, 14 P.3d 487. “Statutory language must be construed according to its plain meaning, and if the language is clear and unambiguous, no further interpretation is required.” *Dodson*, ¶ 46. The goal of statutory interpretation “is to give effect to the legislature’s intent, begin[ning] with the text of the statute.” *Giacomelli v. Scottsdale Ins. Co.*, 2009 MT 418, ¶ 18, 354 Mont. 15, 221 P.3d 666. Further, “statutory construction should not lead to absurd results if a reasonable interpretation can avoid it.” *City of Missoula v. Fox*, 2019 MT 250, ¶ 18, 397 Mont. 388, 395, 450 P.2d 898, 903 (internal citations omitted). Finally, if the plain words of a statute are ambiguous, the next step in statutory interpretation is to examine the legislative history of the statute to determine the legislative intent. *Dodson*, ¶ 46.

The District Court erred when it construed the Lot Rental Act to allow no-cause terminations of month-to-month rental agreements. The District Court’s interpretation ignores the Lot Rental Act’s plain meaning by effectively inserting language into the Lot Rental Act that the Legislature omitted. Furthermore, the District Court’s interpretation leads to the absurd result of allowing a lot-owner/landlord to terminate a mobile home lot rental agreement without cause

when the Lot Rental Act contains no statutory provision authorizing no-cause termination.

- A. By approving Agnes’ no-cause termination, the District Court has misconstrued the plain meaning of the words and inserted into the Lot Rental Act a remedy that does not exist in statute.**

The plain meaning of the Lot Rental Act’s language does not authorize terminations of month-to-month rental agreements without cause. In the entire statutory scheme regulating mobile home lot rentals, the Lot Rental Act contains only one statute that provides the grounds for termination of a mobile home lot rental agreement -- Mont. Code Ann. § 70-33-433, entitled “Grounds for termination of rental agreement.” Section 70-33-433 contains no terms that authorize a lot-owner/landlord to terminate a month-to-month rental agreement without cause. Therefore, the District Court erred in concluding the Lot Rental Act authorizes a lot-owner/landlord to terminate a month-to-month rental agreement without cause.

- 1. The Lot Rental Act is comprehensive legislation that precludes a lot-owner/landlord from terminating a rental agreement for a reason not authorized in statute.**

The Lot Rental Act, contained in Title 70, Ch. 33 of the Montana Code Annotated, is comprehensive legislation that governs mobile home lot rental agreements and provides the obligations, rights, and remedies of the lot-

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