IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 23-0154

AGNES ADVENTURES, LLC,)
)
Plaintiff and Appellee,)
)
v.)
)
JORDI ANZIK,)
)
Defendant and Appellant.)
_____)

Appeal from the District Court of the First Judicial District of the State of Montana,
In and For the County of Lewis and Clark, Case No. ADV-2022-1071
The Honorable Judge Michael T. Menahan, Presiding.

APPELLEE’S REVISED RESPONSE BRIEF

APPEARANCES:

Daniel Webster
Amy Hall
Montana Legal Services Association
616 Helena Ave., Ste 100
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 442-9830 x 113 Daniel
(406) 442-9830 x 114 Amy
dwebster@mtlsa.org
ahall@mtlsa.org

David B. Gallik
Attorney at Law
Gallik Law Office, PLLC
1124 Billings Avenue

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because there is no rental agreement providing otherwise, Jordi Anzik's tenancy is from month to month pursuant to 70-33-201(2), MCA.

Jordi Anzik admitted receiving actual notice of the written Sept. 2, 2022, 30 DAY NOTICE TO QUIT AND TERMINATE THE RENTAL AGREEMENT, from Agnes.

Jordi Anzki was given proper notice under 70-33-106 (1)(c) MCA, that her month-to-month tenancy at Western Skies Mobile Home Park Lot #3 ended on October 10, 2022, in accordance with 70-33-201(2)(e), MCA. As a matter of law, Jordi Anzik's month-to-month tenancy ended as of October 10, 2022 and pursuant to 70-33-427(1), MCA, Agnes has a claim for possession of the mobile home lot.

ARGUMENT

Under the Montana Residential Mobile Home Lot Rental Act, Title 70, Chapter 33 of the Montana Code Annotated, specifically, 70-33-201(2) (e) MCA, Jordi Anzik's mobile home lot tenancy was month-to-month at Agnes's Western Skies Mobile Home Park. That statute unequivocally and clearly states; "Unless the rental agreement provides otherwise ... the tenancy is from month to month."

There was no written rental agreement between Agnes and Jordi Anzik for this mobile home lot. Thus, as a matter of law Jordi Anzik's tenancy ended after she was properly given 30 days' notice.

At trial the Jordi Anzik admitted receipt of the above referenced Sept. 2, 2022, 30 DAY NOTICE TO QUIT AND TERMINATE THE RENTAL AGREEMENT. Therefore, Jordi Anzik's month-to-month tenancy expired as of October 10, 2022, as she was actual, proper and timely notice pursuant to 70-33-106 (1)(c) MCA.

Jordi Anzik has had a consistent argument, from her Answer to the Complaint in the Justice Court, through her Opening Brief on Appeal to the Montana Supreme Court; that being pursuant to 70-33-433, MCA, Agnes needed to show that it had grounds for termination of the rental agreement before ending Jordi Anzik's tenancy.

The Justice Court's Judgment in favor of Ms. Anzik found that in order to terminate and end her month to month tenancy Agnes was required to show cause or grounds pursuant to the requirement of 70-33-433, MCA.

Agnes admits it showed no grounds.

Agnes first moved the Justice Court for Relief from Judgement pursuant to Justice and City Court Civil Procedure rule 22 [Justice Court

Filing 02/09/2023] on the legal basis that the rental agreement does not provide otherwise so pursuant to 70-33-201(2(e) MCA, Jordi Anzik's tenancy is from month to month. This is the same statute the District Court cited when overruling the Justice Court decision. [Dist. Ct. Filing # 6]

Jordi Anzik admitted she had timely actual notice of the expiration date of this month-to-month tenancy. As indicated in the District Court's Agnes provided her with proper legal notice of the expiration of her tenancy pursuant to 70-33-106 (1)(c), MCA. Additionally, Jordi Anzik's Opening Brief on Appeal to the Supreme Court, (pg. 13-14) admits her tenancy is a month-to-month tenancy.

Jordi Anzik is now a holdover tenant, pursuant to 70-33-429(1) MCA, which states:

"If the tenant remains in possession without the landlord's consent after expiration of the term of the rental agreement or other termination of the rental agreement, the landlord may bring an action for possession."

Jordi Anzik's argues according to 70-33-433(1), MCA, Agnes cannot terminate her tenancy without reason as that statute requires that the landlord of a mobile home rental lot must provide grounds for termination of the rental agreement pursuant to 70-33-433, MCA.

Agnes agrees with the District Court's reversal of the Justice Court where it indicates that Jodi Anzik's reliance on this statute is misplaced.

[Dist. Ct. Filing # 6, 5: 3-4]

The first words of 70-33-433(1), MCA, state; "If there is a noncompliance by the tenant with the rental agreement" This statute is not applicable to this case because Agnes has not made an allegation of noncompliance with the rental agreement against Jordi Anzik. " Rather the 30 day notice sent by Agnes to Jordi Anzik by certified mail on September 2, 2022, was to set the expiration date of the month-to-month tenancy.

Reinstatement of the Justice Court's Judgment would require the Montana Supreme Court to exclude the above referenced first words of 70-33-433(1), MCA, and would provide Ms. Anzik with a life estate so long as she timely pays her rent and does nothing to trigger the termination grounds under 70-33-433, MCA. This was not the intent of the statute. To interpret the Residential Mobile Home Lot Rental Act as did the Justice Court, requires the Court to give no effect to the manner in which the statute allows a mobile home landlord to set an expiration of the mobile home lot tenancy pursuant to 70-33-106 (1)(c) MCA.

In interpreting a statute, a court must construe the statute as written by the legislature and may not “insert what has been omitted or omit what has been inserted.” 1-2-101, MCA; *Infinity Ins. Co. v. Dodson*, 2000 MT 287, ¶ 46, 302 Mont. 209, 14 P.3d 487. Statutory language must be construed according to its plain meaning, and if the language is clear and unambiguous, no further interpretation is required. *Dodson*, ¶ 46. The goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature’s intent, begin[ning] with the text of the statute. *Giacomelli v. Scottsdale Ins. Co.*, 2009 MT 418, ¶ 18, 354 Mont. 15, 221 P.3d 666.

CONCLUSION

The statutory scheme for providing notice of the expiration of a mobile home residential rental lot in Montana is very clear under Montana’s Mobile Home Lot Rental Act, Title 70, Chapter 33, of the Montana Code Annotated.

The result Jordi Anzki seeks is absurd. Her argument does not give effect to the legislature’s intent, and supplants such legislative intent with Ms. Anzik position that she has a life estate in this mobile home lot so long as it’s a mobile home park, she pays the rent, and follows the rules.

Based upon the foregoing, and the remainder of the record herein, Agnes respectfully requests the Montana Supreme Court enter an Order affirming the decision of the First Judicial District Court in this case.